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)
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)
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)

BRANDON L. BAUM,
)




)
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)

DECISION 


The Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) has cause to discipline Brandon L. Baum for his pleas of guilty to, and the conduct underlying, the federal offenses of aiding and abetting wire fraud, and aiding and abetting engaging in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property.  The MREC has no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(4) and (19).
 

Procedure


On June 13, 2008, the MREC filed a complaint to discipline Baum’s real estate salesperson license.  Baum was personally served with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing, and responded on August 1, 2008.  On November 21, 2008, Baum filed a request to “close” his case file because he was not renewing his license.  The MREC filed a response on December 9, 2008.  We deny Baum’s request.  


On December 9, 2008, the MREC filed a motion for summary determination.  We gave Baum until December 30, 2008, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.  

Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(5)(A) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision and no party raises a genuine issue as to such facts.  

Findings of Fact


1.  Baum was licensed by the MREC as a real estate salesperson.  The license was current and active at all relevant times.  Because Baum did not renew his license, it expired on September 30, 2008.  

2.  Baum acted as the buyers' agent in the purchases of certain properties in Oak Tree Subdivision, Edmond, Oklahoma.  He also controlled a business entity known as Secorum Investments, LLC ("Secorum").


3.  Argent Mortgage ("Argent") was a corporation located in Orange, California, engaged in the business of funding mortgages.  It was the lender in the sales of 1000 Irvine Drive to Joseph Therrien, 5916 Morning Dove Lane to D.J.A., 5813 Dundee Terrace to Teresa Therrien, and 1208 Troone Drive to Timothy J. McDaniel.  


4.  Baum and Gayle L. Caldwell, Joseph Conrad Therrien, Charles E. Caldwell, Jr., Teresa M. Therrien, Rusty Real Therrien, and McDaniel were engaged in schemes to defraud various mortgage lenders by artificially inflating the sale prices of homes and submitting false loan applications.  Baum and the other actors intended to personally profit by funneling substantial sums of money back to themselves and others from the excess sales proceeds under the guise of remodeling, repair costs or marketing service fees.         


5.  Potential home buyers represented by Baum were told they could receive substantial funds at the time of closing under the guise of "repair costs," which they could use for their 
personal benefit, if they agreed to purchase the homes at an inflated price.  Sellers' agents for certain hard-to-sell properties in Oak Tree Subdivision negotiated sales with Baum.


6.  Brokers at United Lending, including Charles E. Caldwell, Jr., facilitated the submission of fraudulent loan applications to lenders, for buyers who could not qualify to purchase the homes, at the artificially inflated prices.  Buyers provided false information on their loan applications concerning their actual income and assets.


7.   In some cases, Baum, Charles E. Caldwell, Jr., Joseph Therrien, Rusty Therrien, and/or others provided temporary loans to buyers represented by Baum for down payments with the understanding that they would be reimbursed at closing from the purported remodeling or repair costs, marketing service fees, and other undisclosed disbursements.  In those cases, the buyers did not disclose these down payment loans to the lenders, but instead falsely represented the sources of their down payments.


8.  Mortgages were approved by lenders based on false statements and fraudulent representations contained in the loan applications.


9.  Baum presented contracts to the sellers' real estate agents in which buyers agreed to purchase homes at prices well above the properties' original Multilist Service ("MLS") list

prices.  Sellers' agents presented the purchase contracts for the inflated prices to their clients and obtained agreements from the sellers to pay for purported remodeling, repair costs, marketing service fees, and closing costs from the inflated sales proceeds to facilitate the sales of their homes.


10.  Once the terms of a purchase had been approved by both the buyer and seller, in many cases sellers' agents increased the MLS list price for the properties to an amount equal to or above the agreed inflated purchase price to avoid detection by the lenders and others.

11.  Prior to the closing of each property, loan proceeds were wire transferred from lenders on behalf of the buyers to the bank accounts of closing companies in Oklahoma.  At closing, the title companies were directed by Baum, sellers' agents, and the sellers to issue checks from the sales proceeds to various entities for  purported remodeling, repair costs, marketing service fees, or other fees.


12.  T.C.M. was an associate of Baum who controlled bank accounts that Baum used for funneling money back to certain buyers and others after closing.  T.C.M. deposited title company checks given to him by Baum that were issued from the sales proceeds to various entities for purported remodeling, repair costs, marketing service fees, and other fees.  Baum directed T.C.M.  to issue checks from those accounts or purchase cashier's checks payable to the buyers, to those who may have loaned down payment funds, and to others.  In one case, Baum used his own business entity, Secorum, to funnel purported remodeling and repair costs back to the buyer.


13.  Baum, Charles E. Caldwell, Jr., sellers’ agents, and others received commissions from the sales of the homes at the time of closing. 


14.  On November 8, 2006, a federal grand jury returned an indictment in the United States District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma, stating:  

COUNT 1
Wire Fraud; 

Aiding and Abetting
(18 U.S.C. § 1343; 

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))
THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD
*   *   * 

32.  From in or about early 2003, and continuing through on or about October 16, 2003, BRANDON L. BAUM, JOSEPH CONRAD THERRIEN, CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR., and others devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to 
materially defraud and for obtaining  money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.  The purpose of the scheme was to assist JOSEPH THERRIEN in purchasing the property at 1000 Irvine Drive, Oak Tree Subdivision, Edmond, Oklahoma, at a fraudulently inflated value through false representations to Argent concerning JOSEPH THERRIEN's financial ability to qualify.  BAUM, JOSEPH THERRIEN, CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR., D.J.A., and others  intended to personally profit from the purchase.

It was part of the scheme that: 

33.  In early 2003, BAUM met with JOSEPH THERRIEN, D.J.A., and T.C.M. to discuss how purported repair money could be funneled back to a buyer through a fictitious entity in the purchase of a home;

34.  On or about September 4, 2003, BAUM submitted a purchase contract on behalf of JOSEPH THERRIEN to the sellers' agent for 1000 Irvine Drive in the amount of $405,000.00, which was $65,500.00 above the MLS list price.  On that date, the sellers' agent increased the MLS list price to $407,000.00;

35.  On or about September 5, 2003, JOSEPH THERRIEN, with the assistance of CHARLES E.  CALDWELL, JR., completed and thereafter submitted a false Uniform Residential Loan Application for a mortgage in the amount of $384,750.00 to Argent that contained false information concerning JOSEPH THERRIEN's income, bank balance, and source of down payment, which loan was subsequently approved;

36.  On or about September 10, 2003, the sellers accepted an addendum to the purchase contract prepared by BAUM on behalf of JOSEPH THERRIEN in which the sellers agreed to pay $60,000.00 for purported remodeling;

37.  On or about October 10, 2003, JOSEPH THERRIEN used a $20,250.00 BancFirst cashier's check payable to Lawyers' Title for the down payment, purchased with funds loaned to him by CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR., BAUM, and T.C.M.;

38.  After the closing, on or about October 14, 2003, BAUM received a real estate commission of approximately $10,050.00 from the sale proceeds, the sellers' agent received a commission of approximately $6,700.00, and United Lending received a commission of approximately $15,890.00.  CHARLES E. 
CALDWELL, JR. personally received a commission in the amount of $7,502.63 from United Lending;

39.  On or about October 14, 2003, BAUM gave T.C.M. a $60,000.00 Lawyers' Title check payable to "Alliance Construction" for purported repairs and directed him to deposit the check into his bank account; and

40.  On or about October 16, 2003, T.C.M., at the direction of BAUM, purchased a $38,750.00 cashier's check payable to D.J.A.  The remainder of the $60,000.00 went to BAUM, CHARLES F. CALDWELL, JR., and T.C.M. to repay the down payment loans.

41.  On about October 14, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

JOSEPH CONRAD THERRIEN, and

CHARLES S. CALDWELL, JR., 

the defendants herein, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted the following interstate wire communication:   a wire transfer of funds totaling $390,448.16 from Argent in California to Lawyers’ Title in Oklahoma.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).  

COUNT 2

Engaging in a Monetary Transaction

In Criminally Derived Property;

Aiding and Abetting
(18 U.S.C. § 1957;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))
42.  On or about October 16, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma and elsewhere,

BRANDON L. BAUM, and

JOSEPH CONRAD THERRIEN

the defendants herein, knowingly engaged in and caused to be engaged in, a monetary transaction by, through, or to a financial 
institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000,00, that is, the deposit of Cashier's Check No. 070549673 from Commercial Federal in the amount of $38,750.00 payable to D.J.A. into Account No. xxxxxxl708 at BancFirst, such property having been derived from a specified lawful activity, that is, wire fraud as described in Count 1, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 3

Wire Fraud;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1343;

18 U.S.C. § 2 (b))
THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

*   *   *

44.  From in or about early 2003, and continuing through on or about November 6, 2003, BRANDON L. BAUM, CHARLES F. CALDWELL, JR., JOSEPH CONRAD THERRIEN, and others devised and intended to, devise a scheme and artifice to materially defraud  and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.  The purpose of the scheme was to assist D.J.A. in purchasing the property at 5916 Morning Dove Lane, Oak Tree Subdivision, Edmond, Oklahoma, at a fraudulently inflated value through false representations to Argent concerning D.J.A.`s financial ability to qualify.  BAUM, CHARLES F. CALDWELL, JR., and others intended to personally profit from the sale.

It was part of the scheme that:

45.  On or about September 5, 2003, D.J.A., with the assistance of CHARLES F. CALDWELL, JR., completed and thereafter submitted a false Uniform Residential  Loan Application for a mortgage in the amount of $294,500.00 to Argent that contained false information concerning D.J.A.'s income, bank balance, and source of down payment, which loan was subsequently approved;

46.  On or about September 15, 2003, BAUM submitted a purchase contract on behalf of D.J.A. to the sellers' agent for 5916 Morning 
Dove Lane in the amount of $310,000.00, which was $75,000.00 above the MLS list price;

47.  On or about September 17, 2003, the sellers accepted an addendum to the purchase contract prepared by BAUM on behalf of D.J.A. in which the sellers agreed to pay $77,500.00 for purported remodeling;

48.  On or about September 24, 2003, the sellers' agent caused the MLS list price to be increased from $235,000.00 to $315,000.00;

49.  On or about September 30, 2003, CHARLES F. CALDWELL, JR., JOSEPH THERRIEN, and D.J.A. signed a false Request for Verification of Rent as part of D.J.A.'s loan application to Argent, stating D.J.A. was renting 1301 Oak Tree Drive from JOSEPH THERRIEN;

50.  On or about October 15, 2003, D.J.A. purchased a $15,500.00 cashier's check payable to Lawyers' Title for the down payment with funds provided by T.C.M. at the direction of BAUM;

51.  After the closing, on or about October 22, 2003,

BAUM and the sellers' agent received real estate commissions of approximately $6,675.00 each and United Lending received a commission of approximately $9,820.00.  CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR. personally received a commission in the amount of $5,742.75 from United Lending;

52.  On or about October 23, 2003, BAUM gave T.C.M. a $77,500.00 check payable to "Alliance Construction" issued by Lawyers' Title from the sales proceeds for purported repairs, which T.C.M. deposited into his bank account.  BAUM and T.C.M. retained $19,750.00 of this deposit to recoup the down payment   funds described in paragraph 50 and to derive additional profit;

53.  On at about October 23, 2003, BAUM directed T.C.M.

to purchase a $10,250.00 cashier's check payable to BAUM from the deposit described in paragraph 52; and

54.  On or about October, 24, 2003, T.C.M., at the direction of BAUM, purchased a $57,750.00 cashier's check payable to D.J.A.

55.  On about October 22, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

JOSEPH CONRAD THERRIEN, and

CHARLES F. CALDWELL, JR.,

the defendants herein, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted the following interstate wire communication:  a wire transfer of funds totaling $299,306.20 from Argent in California to Lawyers' Title in Oklahoma.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 4

Engaging in a Monetary Transaction

in Criminally Derived Property;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1957;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

56.  On or about October 23, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma and elsewhere,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

the defendant herein, knowingly engaged in and caused to be engaged in, a monetary transaction by, through, or to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000,00, that  is, the  deposit of' Cashier's Check No. 070414467 from Commercial Federal in the amount of $10,250.00 payable to BAUM into Account No. xxxxxxxx2000 at BOA, such property having been' derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud as described in Count 3, in violation of Title 18, United States' Code, Section 1343

All in violation of title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 5

Wire Fraud;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1343;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

57.  The Federal Grand Jury incorporates by reference paragraphs 1, 2, 6, 8, 10, 14, 17, 19, and 21 through 30 of the Indictment.

58.  From in or about October 2003, and continuing through on or about November 26, 2003, BRANDON I. BAUM, TERESA M. THERRIEN, RUSTY REAL THERRIEN, and others devised and intended to devise a  scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money  by means  of materially  false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.  The purpose of the scheme was to assist TERESA THERRIEN in purchasing the property at 5813 Dundee Terrace in Oak Tree Subdivision, Edmond, Oklahoma, at a fraudulently inflated value through false representations to Argent concerning TERESA THERRIEN's financial ability to qualify.  BAUM, TERESA THERRIEN, RUSTY THERRIEN, and others intended to personally profit from the sale.

It was part of the scheme that:

59.  On or about October 21, 2003, BAUM submitted a purchase contract on behalf of TERESA THERRIEN to the sellers' agent for 5813 Dundee Terrace in the amount of $380,000.00, which was $81,000.00 above the MLS list price;

60.  On or about October 23, 2003, the sellers' agent caused the MLS list price for the property to be increased from $299,000.00 to $385,000.00;

61.  On or about October 24, 2003, the sellers accepted an addendum to the purchase contract prepared by BAUM on behalf of TERESA THERRIEN in which the sellers agreed to pay $91,000.00 for purported remodeling;

62.  On or about November 5, 2003, TERESA THERRIEN, with the assistance of a broker  at United Lending, completed and thereafter submitted a false Uniform Residential Loan Application for a  mortgage in the  amount of $342,000.00  to Argent that contained false information concerning her income, bank balance, and source of down payment, which loan was subsequently approved;

63.  On or about November 5, 2003, T.C.M. signed a Request for Verification of Rent provided by BAUM as part of TERESA THERRIEN's loan application to Argent, falsely stating that he was the Property Manager for her current residence;

64.  Between approximately November 12 and November 14, 2003, T.C.M. at the direction of BAUM provided $20,000.00 and D.J.A. provided $17,994.00 to RUSTY THERRIEN to be used for TERESA THERRIEN' S down payment;

65.  After the closing, on or about November 24, 2003, BAUM and the sellers' agent received real estate commissions of approximately $8,370.00 each and United Lending received a commission of approximately $12,579.78;

66.  On or about November 24, 2003, BAUM gave T.C.M. a $91,000.00 Oklahoma City Abstract check payable to "Allied Construction" for purported repairs, which T.C.M. deposited into his bank account; and

67.  On or about November 24, 2003, T.C.M., at the direction of BAUM, used the proceeds of the deposit described in paragraph 66 to issue an $18,000.00 check payable to D.J.A. as reimbursement for the down payment and a $51,000.00 check payable to  RUSTY THERRIEN.  BAUM  and T.C.M. retained  the remaining $22,000.00 to recoup their $20,000.00 down payment loan and to derive additional profit.

68.  On about November 21, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

TERESA M. THERRIEN, and

RUSTY REAL THERRIEN,

the defendants herein, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted the following interstate wire communication:  a wire transfer of funds totaling $347,679.30 from Argent in California to Oklahoma City Abstract in Oklahoma.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 6

Engaging in a Monetary Transaction

in Criminally Derived Property;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. §1957;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

69.  On or about November 26, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma and elsewhere,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

TERESA M. THERRIEN, and

RUSTY REAL THERRIEN,

the defendants herein, knowingly engaged in and caused to be engaged in, a monetary transaction by, through, or to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000.00, that is, the deposit of Check No. 16069 drawn on Account No. xxxxxx6040 at Commercial Federal in the amount of $51,000.00 payable to "RUSTY THERRIEN" into the joint account of RUSTY and TERESA THERRIEN, Account No. xxxxxx7852 at Arvest, such property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud as described in Count 5, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 7

Wire Fraud;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1343;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

70.  The Federal Grand Jury incorporates by reference paragraphs 1, 2, 6, 7, 11, 13, 16, 19, and 21 through 30 of the Indictment.

71.  From in or about fall 2003, and continuing through on or about December 11, 2003, BRANDON L. BAUM, TIMOTHY J. McDANIEL, RUSTY REAL THERRIEN, and others devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,  representations, and promises.  The purpose of the scheme was to assist McDANIEL in purchasing the property at 6125 Stonegate Place in Oak Tree Subdivision, Edmond, Oklahoma, at a fraudulently inflated value through false representations to Novastar concerning his financial ability to 
qualify.  BAUM, McDANIEL, and others intended to personally profit from the sale.

It was part of the scheme that:

72.  In fall 2003, McDANIEL had a meeting with BAUM in which BAUM told McDANIEL he would pay him $10,000.00 to purchase 6125 Stonegate and then BAUM would sign a lease/purchase agreement with McDANIEL to lease the property;

73.  On or about November 13, 2003, McDANIEL, with the assistance of a broker at United Lending, completed and thereafter submitted a false Uniform Residential Loan Application to NovaStar containing misrepresentations concerning his income, source of down payment, and the intended occupancy of the home by BAUM;

74.  On or about November 17, 2003, BAUM submitted a purchase contract on behalf of' MCDANIEL to the sellers' agent for $380,000.00, which was $100,100.00 above the MLS list price;

75.  On or about November 18, 2003, the sellers accepted an addendum to the purchase contract prepared by BAUM and presented to them by the sellers’ agent in which the sellers agreed to pay "Allied Construction" $100,000.00 after the closing for purported remodeling;

76.  On or about December 9, 2003, RUSTY THERRIEN gave McDANIEL a check for $38,000.00 to use as partial down payment;

77.  After the closing, on or about December 10, 2003, BAUM and the sellers’ agent received real estate commissions of approximately $8,100.00 each and United Lending received a commission of approximately $14,615.00;

78.  On or about December 10, 2003, BAUM gave T.C.M. a $100,000.00 Lawyers' Title check payable to "Alliance Construction" for purported repairs, which T.C.M. deposited into his bank account; and

79.  Oh or about December 11, 2003, T.C.M., at the direction of BAUM, gave BAUM a $38,000.00 check payable to RUSTY THERRIEN for down payment reimbursement, a $10,000.00 check payable to McDANIEL, and a $35,621.78 check payable to BAUM from the funds described in paragraph 78.

80.  On or about December 10, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma, 

BRANDON L. BAUM, 

TIMOTHY J. McDANIEL, and

RUSTY REAL THERRIEN,

the defendants herein, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted the following interstate wire communication:  a wire transfer of funds totaling $345,001.61 from NovaStar in New York to Lawyers' Title in Oklahoma.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 8

Engaging in a Monetary Transaction

in Criminally Derived Property;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1957;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

81.  On or about December 11, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma and elsewhere,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

the defendant herein, knowingly engaged in and caused to be engaged in a monetary transaction by, through, or to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000.00, that is, the deposit of Check No. 16075 drawn on Account No. xxxxx6040 at Commercial Federal in the amount of  $35,621.78 payable to BAUM into Account No. xxxxxx4076 at BOK, such property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud as described in Count 7, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.     

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 9

Engaging in a Monetary Transaction

in Criminally Derived Property;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1957;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

82.  On or about December 15, 2003, in the Western District of Oklahoma and elsewhere,

BRANDON L. BAUM, and

RUSTY REAL THERRIEN,

the defendants herein, knowingly engaged in and caused to be engaged in, a monetary transaction by, through, or to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000,00, that is, the deposit of Check No. 16072 drawn on Account No. xxxx6040 at Commercial Federal in the amount of $38,000.00 payable to "RUSTY THERRIEN" into Account No. xxxx7852 at Arvest, such property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud as described in Count 7, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 10

Wire Fraud;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1343;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

83.  The Federal Grand Jury incorporates by reference paragraphs 1, 2, 6, 7, 10, 15, 16, 19, and 21 through 30 of the 

Indictment.

84.  From in or about December 2003, and continuing 

through on or about January 7, 2004, BRANDON L. BAUM, TIMOTHY J. McDANIEL, RUSTY REAL THERRIEN, and others devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means  of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and 
promises.  The purpose of the scheme was to assist McDANIEL in purchasing the property at 1208 Troone Drive, Oak Tree Subdivision, Edmond, Oklahoma, at a fraudulently inflated value through false representations to Argent concerning his financial ability to qualify.  BAUM, McDANIEL, RUSTY THERRIEN, and others intended to personally profit from the sale.

It was part of the scheme that:

85.  On or about December 19, 2003, BAUM submitted a purchase contract for 1208 Troone Drive on behalf of MCDANIEL to the seller's agent in the amount of $330,000.00, which was $40,100.00 above the MLS list price;

86.  On or about December 22, 2003, the seller accepted an addendum to the purchase contract prepared by BAUM and presented to him by the seller's agent in which the seller agreed to pay $42,000.00 for purported remodeling; 

87.  On or about December 22, 2003, McDANIEL, with the assistance of a broker at United Lending, submitted a false Uniform Residential Loan Application for a mortgage in the amount of $297,000.00 to Argent that contained false information concerning his income and source of down payment, which loan was subsequently approved;

88.  On or about January 6, 2004, BAUM gave McDANIEL three cashier's checks from BAUM, RUSTY THERRIEN, and an associate of BAUM totaling $36,588.28 for the down payment;

89.  After the closing, on or about January 7, 2004, BAUM and the seller's  agent received real estate commissions of approximately $8,340.00 each and United Lending received a commission of approximately $15,304.11; and

90.  On or about January 7, 2004, at the direction of BAUM, T.C.M. used the proceeds of a $42,000.00 check issued by First American Title to "Allied Const" for purported repairs to issue checks to BAUM for $6,500.00, to McDANIEL for $3,500.00, to RUSTY THERRIEN for $11,000.00, and to BAUM's associate for $21,000.00. 

91.  On about January 7, 2004, in the Western District of Oklahoma,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

RUSTY REAL THERRIEN, and

TIMOTHY J McDANIEL,

the defendants herein, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for 

obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted the following interstate wire communication:  a wire transfer of funds totaling $301,024.50 from Argent in California to First American Title in Oklahoma.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 11

Engaging in a Monetary Transaction

in Criminally Derived Property;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1957;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

92.  On or about January 7, 2004, in the Western District of Oklahoma and elsewhere,

BRANDON L. BAUM, and

RUSTY REAL THERRIEN, 

the defendants herein, knowingly engaged in and caused to be  engaged in, a monetary transaction by, through, or to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000,00, that is, the deposit of Cashier's Check No. 070549956 from Commercial Federal in the amount of $11,000.00 payable to “RUSTY THERRIEN” into Account No. xxxx7852 at Arvest, such property haying been derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud as described in Count 10, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 12

Wire Fraud;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1343;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

93.  The Federal Grand Jury incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 4, 9, 12, 14, 17, and 21 through 30 of the indictment.

94.  From in or about December 2004, and continuing through on or about January 18, 2005, BRANDON L. BAUM, CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR., GAYLE L. CALDWELL, and others devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promise.  The purpose of the scheme was to assist F.B. in acquiring the property at 1709 Irvine Drive, Oak Tree Subdivision, Edmond, Oklahoma, at a fraudulently inflated value through false representations to Long Beach concerning her financial ability to qualify.  BAUM, CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR., GAYLE  CALDWELL, F.B.,  and others intended to personally profit from the sale.

It was part of the scheme that:

95.  On or about December 6, 2004, BAUM submitted a purchase contract on behalf of F.B. to the sellers' agent for 1709 Irvine Drive in the amount of $800,000.00, which was $250,000.00 above the MLS list price;

96.  On or about December 7, 2004, the sellers accepted an addendum to the purchase contract prepared by BAUM and presented to them by the sellers' agent in which the sellers agreed to pay a total of $220,000.00 at closing, including $132,000.00 for purported repairs;

97.  On or about December 6, 2004, F.S., with the assistance of a broker at United Lending, completed and thereafter submitted, a false Uniform Residential Loan Application for a mortgage in the amount of $720,000.00 to Long Beach Mortgage that contained false information concerning the her income, bank balance, and source of down payment, which loan was subsequently approved;

98.  On or about December 10, 2004, the sellers' agent caused the MLS list price to be increased from $550,000.00 to $800,000.00;

99.  On or about January 11, 2005, at the direction of the sellers' agent, the sellers signed an invoice from a down payment assistance provider whereby the sellers agreed to pay $128,050.00 for a "marketing service fee";

100.  On or about January 11, 2005, at the direction of their agent, the sellers signed an invoice from "Access Marketing Services," a business owned by GAYLE CALDWELL, whereby the sellers agreed to pay $l0,000.00 for "marketing service";

101.  On or about January 13, 2005, the down payment assistance provider purchased a cashier's check payable to Oklahoma City Abstract in the amount of $120,000.00, with F.B. as the remitter, to cover the majority of her down payment;

102.  At the closing, on or about January 14, 2005, BAUM and the sellers' agent received real estate commissions of approximately $16,200.00 each and United Lending received a commission of approximately $32,690.00.  CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR. personally received a commission in the amount of $15,847.50 from United Lending;

103.  On or about January 14, 2005, the down payment assistance provider received a check in the amount of $128,050.00 from Oklahoma City Abstract issued from the sales proceeds for a purported marketing service fee;

104.  On or about January 14, 2005, GAYLE CALDWELL received a check in  the amount of $10,000.00 payable to her business, "Access Marketing Services," issued by Oklahoma City Abstract from the sales proceeds; and

105.  On or about January 14, 2005, BAUM provided Oklahoma City Abstract with an invoice from Secorum falsely stating that $92,000.00 worth of repairs had been completed at 1709 Irvine Drive.  BAUM received a check from Oklahoma City Abstract for $92,000.00 from the sales proceeds payable to Secorum pursuant to the invoice.

106.  On about January 14, 2005, in the Western District of Oklahoma,

BRANDON L. BAUM,

GAYLE L. CALDWELL, and

CHARLES E. CALDWELL, JR.,

the defendants herein, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice to materially defraud and for obtaining money by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowingly transmitted 
and caused to be transmitted the following interstate wire communication:  a wire transfer of funds totaling $683,954.50 from Long Beach in California to Oklahoma City Abstract in Oklahoma.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2(b).

COUNT 13

Engaging in a Monetary Transaction

in Criminally Derived Property;

Aiding and Abetting

(18 U.S.C. § 1957;

18 U.S.C. § 2(b))

107.  On or about January 14, 2005, in the Western District of Oklahoma and elsewhere, 

BRANDON L. BAUM,

the defendant herein, knowingly engaged in and caused to be engaged in, a monetary transaction by, through, or to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000,00, that is, the transfer of Cashier's Check No. 1-40717 in the amount of $92,000.00 from SNB payable to Secorum Investments by endorsing it and delivering it to F.B., such property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, wire fraud as described in Count 12, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2 (b).


15.  Baum committed the conduct charged in the indictment.  

16.  On April 3, 2007, a jury found Baum guilty on all 13 counts (six counts of aiding and abetting wire fraud and seven counts of aiding and abetting engaging in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property).  The court sentenced him to 87 months in federal prison and ordered him to pay restitution in the amount of $511,735.23.   

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the MREC’s complaint.
  We have jurisdiction to adjudicate a complaint not only against someone with an active and current license, but also against someone who has not renewed his or her license.
  The MREC has the burden of proving that Baum has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  

I.  Misrepresentation


Section 339.100.2(2) allows discipline against a licensee for: 

[m]aking substantial misrepresentations or false promises or suppression, concealment or omission of material facts in the conduct of his or her business or pursuing a flagrant and continued course of misrepresentation through agents, salespersons, advertising or otherwise in any transaction[.]

Baum told home buyers that they could receive substantial funds at the time of closing under the guise of repair costs that they could use for their personal benefit if they agreed to purchase homes at an inflated price.  Baum and others provided temporary loans to buyers represented by Baum for down payments with the understanding that they would be reimbursed at closing from the purported remodeling or repair costs, marketing service fees, and other undisclosed disbursements.  In some cases the buyers did not disclose the down payments to the lenders, but instead falsely represented the sources of their down payments.  Baum directed title companies to issue checks from sales proceeds to various entities for purported remodeling, repair costs, marketing service fees, or other fees.  After those checks were deposited, Baum directed his associate to issue checks from those accounts or to purchase cashier’s checks, in some cases payable to the buyers or to Baum.  He also engaged in a scheme to enable buyers to purchase 
property through false representations regarding their financial ability to qualify.  Baum also provided an abstract company with an invoice falsely stating that $92,000 worth of repairs had been completed on a property.  Baum engaged in substantial misrepresentation and pursued a flagrant and continued course of misrepresentation.  There is cause to discipline his license under § 339.100.2(2).  
II.  Inflating Sales Prices


Section 339.100.2(4) allows discipline against a licensee for:  

[r]epresenting to any lender, guaranteeing agency, or any other interested party, either verbally or through the preparation of false documents, an amount in excess of the true and actual sale price of the real estate or terms differing from those actually agreed upon[.]

Baum presented contracts to sellers’ real estate agents in which buyers agreed to purchase homes at prices well above the properties’ original MLS list prices.  However, there is nothing in the record showing that the inflated price was not the true and actual sale price as stated in the real estate sales contracts.  We find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(4).  
III.  Grounds to Refuse to Issue License


Section 339.100.2(16)
 allows discipline for any licensee:

[c]ommitting any act which would otherwise be grounds for the [MREC] to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]

Section 339.040 provides:


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present
. . . satisfactory proof to the [MREC] that they:


(1) Are persons of good moral character; and


(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and


(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.
A.  Good Moral Character


Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  We determine moral character from the person’s conduct, present reputation, evidence of any rehabilitation, and upon “a consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.”
  Baum engaged with others in an elaborate and well-thought-out scheme of deception and lies so that Baum and his accomplices could benefit monetarily, ignoring the law and rights of others.  We find that Baum’s actions demonstrate that he is not a person of good moral character.  
B.  Reputation


Reputation means “the estimation in which one is generally held : the character commonly imputed to one as distinct from real or inherent character[.]”
  Reputation is a “consensus view of many people[.]”
  The MREC presented no evidence of Baum’s reputation. 

C.  Competence

Competence, when referring to occupation, is “the actual ability of a person to perform 

in that occupation.”
  It also refers to the “disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability.”
  

Section 339.010 provides:


1.  A "real estate broker" is any person . . . who, for another, and for a compensation or valuable consideration, does, or attempts to do, any or all of the following:


(1) Sells, exchanges, purchases, rents, or leases real estate;


(2) Offers to sell, exchange, purchase, rent or lease real estate;


(3) Negotiates or offers or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of real estate;


(4) Lists or offers or agrees to list real estate for sale, lease, rental or exchange;


(5) Buys, sells, offers to buy or sell or otherwise deals in options on real estate or improvements thereon;


(6) Advertises or holds himself or herself out as a licensed real estate broker while engaged in the business of buying, selling, exchanging, renting, or leasing real estate;


(7) Assists or directs in the procuring of prospects, calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;


(8) Assists or directs in the negotiation of any transaction calculated or intended to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;


(9) Engages in the business of charging to an unlicensed person an advance fee in connection with any contract whereby the real estate broker undertakes to promote the sale of that person's real estate through its listing in a publication issued for such purpose intended to be circulated to the general public;


(10) Performs any of the foregoing acts on behalf of the owner of real estate, or interest therein, or improvements affixed thereon, for compensation.

2.  A “real estate salesperson” is any person who for a compensation or valuable consideration becomes associated, either as an independent contractor or employee, either directly or indirectly, with a real estate broker to do any of the things above mentioned. . . .
An inherent part of performing these actions competently and in a manner that safeguards the interest of the public is being able or willing to perform them in a trustworthy manner.  The conduct of which Baum was found guilty shows that he is not competent to perform real estate transactions in a trustworthy manner.  


There is cause to discipline Baum under § 339.100.2(16) because his conduct would serve as grounds to refuse to issue him a license as set forth in § 339.040.1(1) and (3).

IV.  Convictions

Section 339.100.2(18) allows discipline for licensees who have:

[b]een finally adjudicated and found guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws . . . of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

A.  Qualifications, Functions, or Duties of a Salesperson

As previously discussed, Baum’s offenses are related to his functions or duties as a real estate salesperson.  Each of these functions involves handling the property, business, and financial interests of others.  The crimes of aiding and abetting wire fraud, and aiding and abetting engaging in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property, are reasonably related to the functions or duties of a real estate salesperson.  There is cause for discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(18).
B.  Fraud, Dishonesty, and Moral Turpitude


The MREC argues that Baum pled guilty to offenses an essential element of which is fraud or dishonesty and involving moral turpitude.  An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

Title 18 U.S.C. § 2 provides:

(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a principal.

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly performed by him or another would be an offense against the United States, is punishable as a principal.

Title 18 U.S.C. § 1343 provides:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation . . .  affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

Title 18 U.S.C. § 1957 sets forth the elements of engaging in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property:

(a) Whoever, in any of the circumstances set forth in subsection (d), knowingly engages or attempts to engage in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property of a value greater than 
$10,000 and is derived from specified unlawful activity, shall be punished as provided in subsection (b).
*   *   *

(d) The circumstances referred to in subsection (a) are--

(1) that the offense under this section takes place in the United States or in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States; 
*   *   *

(f) As used in this section--
(1) the term “monetary transaction” means the deposit, withdrawal, transfer, or exchange, in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce, of funds or a monetary instrument (as defined in section 1956(c)(5) of this title) by, through, or to a financial institution (as defined in section 1956 of this title), including any transaction that would be a financial transaction under section 1956(c)(4)(B) of this title, but such term does not include any transaction necessary to preserve a person’s right to representation as guaranteed by the sixth amendment to the Constitution;
(2) the term “criminally derived property” means any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained from a criminal offense[.]

The crimes of aiding and abetting wire fraud, and aiding and abetting engaging in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property, involve moral turpitude.  Fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of aiding and abetting wire fraud.  Although the crime of aiding and abetting engaging in a monetary transaction in criminally derived property does not necessarily involve a perversion of the truth; i.e., fraud, it does reflect a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Therefore, dishonesty is an essential element of the crime.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18).
V.  Any Other Conduct


The MREC argues that Baum is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(19) for “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, demonstrates bad faith or incompetence[.]”
  The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT, any [other] man would have done better[.]”
  Therefore, subdivision (19) refers to conduct different from that referred to in the remaining subdivisions of § 339.100.2.  We have found that the conduct at issue is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(2), (16) and (18).  There is no “other” conduct.  Therefore, we find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(19).
Summary

We find cause to discipline Baum under § 339.100.2(2), (16) and (18).  We do not find cause to discipline Baum under § 339.100.2(4) or (19). 
We cancel the hearing.  

SO ORDERED on January 26, 2009.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.


Commissioner
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